UNITED
NATIONS C R C

. Distr.
Convention on the CENERAL
Rights of the Child ORC O SR 359

21 March 1997

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Fourteent h session
SUMMARY RECORD COF THE 359t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Thursday, 16 January 1997, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: Ms. BELEMBAOCGO

CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Myanmar (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Conmttee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued shortly
after the end of the session

GE. 97- 15178 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 359
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 4) (continued)

Initial report of Myanmar (continued) (CRC/C/8/Add.9; CRC/C Q@ MWa.1l (list of
issues); witten replies by the Governnment of Myanmar, with no docunent
synbol )

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the nenbers of the del egation of
Myanmar resuned their places at the Committee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited the menbers of the del egation of Myanmar to
answer the questions asked by Conmittee nenbers at the previous neeting.

3. M. U THAN PO (Myanmar) said that the concern expressed in the Conmittee
about possible discrimnation against certain categories of the popul ati on was
groundless. In Myanmar, all citizens enjoyed equal rights and were equa
before the law, and all educational programes established at the national and
regi onal |evels took account of any differences that m ght exist between

i ndi viduals so as to ensure that those differences never gave rise to

di scrimnation. Furthernore, children could express thenselves freely and
address school teachers, social workers and police officers with perfect

confi dence, and specialized services were authorized to receive conplaints
fromchildren and to conduct inquiries. Lastly, any child who had been
ill-treated was inmedi ately taken in charge by a specialized body.

4. M. UDENZIL ABEL (Myanmar) added that there was al so no discrimnnation
on religious grounds in Myanmar and that freedom of worship, both in the case
of Buddhism the majority religion, and in the case of Christianity, Islam

H ndui sm and ani mi sm was conpletely unrestricted. Nor were there any linmts
on freedom of political opinion; no child could be ill-treated because of the
political opinions of his parents.

5. Ms. NYO NYO (Myanmar) said that in her country very few children were
born out of wedlock. Children abandoned by their nothers in hospital were

i mredi ately | ooked after by the Mnistry of Social Wlfare and, in sone cases,
subsequent|ly adopted by a famly from Myanmar.

6. M. UDENZIL ABEL (Myanmar) added that the public-spiritedness which
prevailed in his country facilitated the harnoni ous resolution of situations
of that type

7. M. HLA BU (Myanmar) said that in his country NGOs, various nedica
associ ations and community representatives collaborated with internationa
organi zati ons such as UNI CEF, UNDP and WHO i n guaranteei ng the ful

realization of the rights of the child. At the governnental |evel, there was
an education conmittee and a health comittee. The frontier regions were now
covered by far-reaching vaccination canpai gns which would, inter alia,

eradi cate polionmyelitis in the near future; infant nortality had decreased
considerably in those regions. However, the basic services remai ned
insufficient in renote and inaccessi bl e regions.



CRC/ C/ SR. 359

page 3
8. CGeneral |y speaking, Myanmar was short of qualified personnel and
techni ci ans, and greatly wel comed any proposal for assistance by internationa
partners. In that connection, a special tribute should be paid to the
Red Cross, which played a considerable role in his country. Furthernore, the
success achieved in the health sector would give a fillip to other activities
in aid of children.
9. I nformati on canpaigns in schools stressed the risks related to snoking

and drugs, and the need to take precautions agai nst venereal diseases and the
AIDS virus. Oral rehydration therapy was being used to conbat diarrhoea
illnesses and the authorities had also initiated a canpaign to pronote
breast-feeding. Wth the help of the Red Cross, children were being nade
awar e of hygi ene and health questions in general. They also took courses in
civics, which encouraged themto participate in public life.

10. Ms. THAN THAN ZIN (Myanmar) said that the education policy pursued by
her Government guaranteed all citizens equality of opportunity. However,
infrastructures were still in need of inprovenent, and between the different
regions there were still disparities which the authorities were endeavouring
to elimnate through effective intervention. Four projects, supported by
United Nations agencies, were currently under way and UNDP was supporting two
projects ained at inproving school attendance rates and the quality of primary
education in rural areas. The authorities were also engaged in building new
school s, renovating old schools, and inproving teacher training and the health
noni toring of pupils. Those programes were ained primarily at di sadvantaged
rural areas and renote areas.

11. Children and young people were free to participate in the cultural
social and religious activities organized for them |In each school there was
a school council, presided over by the headmaster and conmposed of teachers and

pupils el ected by the pupils.

12. On the question of ethnic mnorities, it was planned to devote 5 of
the 10 cl asses reserved each week for optional additional education to

not her -t ongue teaching for children belonging to the various national ethnic
groups, in other words, approximately three and a half hours of classes a
week. However, the Mnistry of Education did not supply the teaching

mat eri al s necessary for that purpose. It should be pointed out that the

135 et hnic groups which existed in Myanmar did not all have their own

| anguage.

13. As to the publicity given to the Convention, she said that two sem nars
sponsored by the Mnistry of Health and UNI CEF had sensitized the
representatives of various conmunities to the objectives set out in the
Convention and in the national plan of action for children. Courses providing
training in the principles laid down in the Convention were given to teachers,
but the actual study of the Convention was not yet included in general schoo
curricula. Corporal punishment was forbidden in schools. A child who

i nfringed school discipline was puni shed and generally sent home, but if the
teacher opted for too severe a penalty, the pupil could | odge a conplaint with
the authorities. A pupil could not be expelled except for a serious offence
puni shabl e by | aw



CRC/ ¢/ SR. 359
page 4

14. Ms. SANTOS PAIS said that the principles enunciated in the Convention
shoul d be included in school curricula; to that end the Myanmar authorities
shoul d cooperate with UNICEF, the Centre for Human Ri ghts and the

i nternati onal NGOs which had great experience with the inplementation of the
Convention. She regretted that not all the provisions of article 2 of the
Convention, in particular, were fully reflected in the |egislation of Myanmar
and asked why freedom of expression, guarantees of which had been confirnmed by
the del egation, could only be exercised “in the context of the | aw

15. On the question of religion, the fact that adherence to a particul ar
religion was nentioned on the identity card was, in her view, a form of
discrimnation. D d the education given in nonasteries also provide religious
instruction to Christian or Muslimchildren who were too poor to go to the
State primary school s?

16. As to education in the ethnic |anguages, it was inmportant to devel op the
necessary teaching nmaterials. The best interests of the child nmust be taken
into consideration in each specific case. She asked, for exanple, what means
were available for a child under the age of 12 to refuse enlistnment in the
armed forces and how the rights of a child obliged to work as a “porter” in
the arnmed forces were protected and saf eguarded.

17. M. HAMVARBERG reni nded the del egati on of Myanmar that, in accordance
with article 3 of the Convention, “the best interests of the child shall be a
primary consideration”. That principle nust therefore be reflected both in
the national Constitution and in the country's political and judicial system
He accordingly wi shed to know whet her procedures were laid down to cover any
conflict between the interests of the child and those of society. He also
asked the delegation for its opinion on reports of corruption in the schoo
system for exanmple in relation to the enrol ment of pupils, and requested it
to describe any neasures taken to conmbat that phenonmenon. He also wished to
know why schools and universities had been closed for a tinme. He noted with
concern that in renote parts of the country the rape of young girls was
comonpl ace; there again, he would like to be infornmed of nmeasures taken to
combat that phenomenon. As Ms. Santos Pais had already nentioned, it was
unacceptabl e that children should work as “porters” for the army - apparently
on a systematic basis. Alarmng reports also referred to the forcible
resettl ement of popul ations, w thout reasonable notice and often under threat
of massacres. Those various situations were, of course, particularly tragic
for children.

18. Ms. EUFEM O requested details on the neans of expression available to
children. According to the data provided by the del egati on of Myanmar, for
every 1,000 inhabitants there were only 2 television sets, 5 newspapers and
82 radio sets. How could a child forma judgenment if his access to the nedia
was |imted in that way and, noreover, if he did not attend school? On a
general point, she asked how freedom of expression could be exercised if it
was forbidden for nore than five people to gather in public.

19. M. U AYE (Myanmar) confirned that Myanmar was a 90 per cent Buddhi st
country, but said that nonastic education was al so open to Christians,
Musl i ns, animsts, atheists and so on and nonasteries accepted girls as wel
as boys. On the subject of recruitnment into the arnmy, the mlitary code



CRC/ C/ SR. 359
page 5

specifically prohibited the enlistnent of young nen under the age of 18 and,
in connection with the enploynent of children as “porters”, the laws in force
in the country, which dated back to British tinmes, would be amended in the
light of current circunstances.

20. On the question of alleged corruption in the school system it was
i ndeed true that affluent famlies could send their children to the best
school s but that was by no neans a sign of corruption. It was inpossible to

“buy” dipl omas, and serious disciplinary neasures would be taken if such a
case were to occur.

21. As to the closure of schools and universities, he said that classes had
been suspended only during the vacation period, as the international observers
had in fact noted. Mbst students wi shed to continue their studies nornally,
but certain agitators were inciting themto break the law. 1In any event, the
school s and universities which had had to be closed for that reason had now
been reopened.

22. In connection with the mnorities in frontier regions reportedly
controlled by the arny, he refuted unjust allegations, but neverthel ess
invited Commttee nenbers to give precise details of the persons and pl aces
mentioned in order that inquiries mght be carried out into the reprehensible
activities of the Myanmar arny. The groups of insurgents had now concl uded
agreenents with the authorities, mlitary operations in Myanmar had ceased
and, thanks to reconciliation, the frontier regions were no |onger the scene
of internal hostilities.

23. Ref erence had been nade to the prohibition of gatherings of nore than
five people in Myanmar. In practice, however, denonstrations attended by
t housands of people were held in his country and the international nedia,
notably CNN and the BBC, had broadcast a lot of filmattesting to that fact.

24. M. HAMVARBERG noted fromthe information available to the Conmttee,
notably a United Nations study on children in situations of armed conflict,

t hat adol escents of 14 or 15 or even younger served in the governnment arny of
Myanmar and al so in the opposition forces. Sinmilarly, numerous allegations of
rape had been made concerning Myanmar. Could the del egation indicate

preci sely the cases brought before the courts and say in how nmany cases
persons found guilty of rape had been sentenced? The allegations in question
m ght concern serious situations corroborated by facts, but sometinmes the
persons concerned, out of fear of reprisals, avoided speaking about those
cases in their own country. |In that connection, the State party m ght
usefully invite the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in
Myanmar, appoi nted by the Comm ssion on Hunman Rights, to carry out an inquiry
on the spot.

25. M. KOOSOV said that the obligation inposed on the State party by
article 39 concerning recovery and reintegration was particularly inmportant
for a country which, after a long period of conflict and insurrection, was
today going through a transitional stage when the rights of the child were in
particul ar jeopardy. |Indeed, w thout appropriate recovery and reintegration
certain children mght forma violent, unstable and unhealthy elenent in
society. The State party's econom ¢ and budgetary difficulties were wel



CRC/ C/ SR. 359
page 6

known, but they did not excuse the abuses of children which occurred, for
exanple, in detention centres. Even though the Myanmar authorities were not
bei ng asked to set up institutions and services for children throughout the
country, children in need of care nust to the fullest extent possible be given
the necessary attention

26. Ms. SANTOS PAIS, reverting to the question of the nonastic school s,
noted that there was a certain contradiction between the State party's reply
to question 29, which stated that those schools provided education for
children too poor to go to State schools, and the report itself, which
intimated that those schools enabled the teachings of Buddhismto be instilled
in children. Did that nean that in Myanmar children belonging to religions

ot her than Buddhi sm did not have access to the sane educational facilities?

27. As to the allegations concerning abuses, rapes and the recruitnent of
children into the arny, the State party could hardly maintain that the

al l egations were outdated. In that connection there was recent infornmation
originating fromUnited Nations special rapporteurs and speci al
representatives of the Secretary-Ceneral. Moreover, since the State party had
ratified ILO Convention No. 29 concerning forced | abour, why had it not yet
repeal ed the provisions of its donmestic |egislation authorizing that type of

| abour, in particular for the army? 1In that area, too, the information was
reliable and clearly showed that children were obliged to do that type of work
in conditions that were sonetines dangerous. It was therefore inmportant that
the Conmittee should know whet her there was a procedure for exam ning

al l egations of abuse in that area, and in how many cases if any penalties had
been i nposed.

28. Wth regard to juvenile justice, it seened that there was no i ndependent
mechani sm for supervising the situation of children in detention, which was
particularly disturbing since the International Conmttee of the Red Cross
(ICRC) was apparently no |longer able to act in Myanmar. Questions also arose
concerning the | egal provision which permtted a non-uniformed policenman to
carry out an arrest. In such a situation, how could a child know that he was
confronted with a policeman? Lastly, she did not understand why the State
party did not repeal the law on the penalty of whipping, which, as it had said
itself, was no | onger used.

29. Ms. KARP asked what was being done to verify the real age of children
recruited into the arned forces or conpelled to performforced | abour. Ws a
programe of specific treatnment planned for children traumatized by the
conflict or the after-effects of the conflict in Myanmar? If children had
been separated fromtheir famlies, was essential information given to the
parents, as provided for in article 9, paragraph 4, of the Convention? On the
qguesti on of adoption, she was surprised to read in paragraph 81 of the report
that between 1989 and 1993 the adoption of only 54 children under the age of
five had been permitted. She also asked what machinery existed to ensure that
adopted children did not become victins of abuse and what were the adoption
procedures.



CRC/ C/ SR. 359
page 7

30. Referring to the question of juvenile justice, she asked how many
children were currently being detained, for what offences and for how | ong.
Were detention centres inspected and were there m ni num standards for the
treatment of detainees? Did children who wi shed to | odge conpl ai nts have
access to the authorities and were visits authorized?

31. As to child prostitution, she understood that an agreenent between the
Governnment of Myanmar and the CGovernnent of Thailand had been drafted, but
unfortunately had not yet been ratified. She asked what the authorities of
the State party were doing to prosecute traffickers and whether the fanilies

t hemsel ves, who were sonetines involved in the traffic, received assi stance or
were in certain cases prosecuted?

32. Ms. SARDENBERG asked the delegation to state whether children who
recei ved corporal punishnment at school could | odge conpl aints and whet her the
teachers concerned could be punished. The del egation had said the previous
day that the governmental authorities had concluded a cease-fire agreenent
with 14 rebel groups. What was being done today for children who had been
enlisted in the arny and were sonetines in conflict with their own fam|lies?
She asked the del egation to describe conditions in establishments for children
who were deprived of their fanmly environment and to say whet her those
establ i shments provided conventional schooling. And lastly, how could
children placed in those establishnents subsequently becone integrated into
soci ety?

33. M s. BADRAN considered that there were real problens in Myanmar
concerning the protection of the rights of the child and that the State party
coul d not evade them by saying they nerely ampbunted to allegations. Even if
there was only one case of abuse, a serious inquiry should be held. On the
qguestion of forced | abour by children, the State party nust review and anend
its legislation since economic difficulties and poverty could not justify
certain practices. Assistance with the resettlement of squatters could be
sought, for exanple, fromcertain United Nations agencies or the Wrld Bank

34. Ms. EUFEM O noted fromthe report that child | abour was authorized only
infamly firns. In her view, the question should be given further attention
since, even in that case, there could be abuses and exploitation of children

t hrough | ack of control

35. M. U AYE (Myannar) said allegations that the army recruited young
peopl e under the age of 18 were groundl ess. However, it did happen that, in
order to be enlisted, young nen pretended they were ol der than they really
were, for exanple by falsifying their identity papers. The mlitary
authorities therefore had to check the age of new recruits very carefully. As
to youths under the age of 18 who had fought with the insurgents, the
Governnment had to exercise great indulgence towards them because they were not
aware of the consequences of their actions. For that reason, the State was
facilitating their reintegration and taking care to ensure that their specia
needs, and in particular psychol ogi cal needs, were nmet. In that connection
hi s del egati on had taken due note of the Committee's suggestion concerning the
establ i shnment of a special unit for minors who had been traumatized by the
war .



CRC/ C/ SR. 359
page 8

36. On the question of rape, the perpetrators of such an act, whether
civilians or servicenen, were |liable to severe punishnent. Soldiers were wel
aware that if they commtted rape, they would be doubly punished, first by the
court martial and then by a civil court. 1In those circunstances, there was no
point in repeating that arny personnel systematically engaged in rape and
torture. Those allegations nust be backed by concrete evidence. For exanple,
the scars and wounds the Special Rapporteur m ght have noted could very wel
have been due to causes other than torture. And it was by no neans certain
that testinony from persons who took an active part in armed insurrection was
totally objective.

37. Some nenbers of the Committee had referred to precise cases, which had
in fact been notified to the Centre for Human Rights. Those cases concerned
adults and his del egation accordingly considered that they were not within the
Committee's conpetence.

38. As to the forcible displacenent of popul ations which had reportedly
occurred in 1996 in the Shan district, it should be made clear that the
persons concerned were in fact insurgents who had fled their villages with
their famlies and the bel ongings they had been able to carry with themso as
to avoid being arrested by the arny. Those persons settled on the other side
of the frontier, fromwhich they |aunched of fensives agai nst villages and the

army.

39. Wth regard to living conditions in detention centres, it nust be
acknow edged that they were not as good as in prisons in devel oped countries.
However, in accordance with the instructions they had received, the prison
authorities were endeavouring, within the limts of the resources available to
them to ensure that detainees had sufficient food and treatnment.

40. Chil d |l abour remai ned exceptional since |egislation on the subject was
very strict. There were very few street children because of the very strong
bonds uniting menbers of large famlies.

41. It was true that a nunber of girls were sent for purposes of
prostitution to neighbouring countries and that the parents were sonetines
responsi ble for that situation since they naively believed the tales they were
told about their daughters' enploynment prospects. Very often those girls

qui ckly contracted AIDS. In that connection, it would be recalled that a
newspaper in a neighbouring country had accused the Myanmar authorities of
having attenpted to elimnate those girls on their return to Myanmar by giving
them cyani de i njections. Oher newspapers had taken up the story wi thout
checking it. The Myanmar authorities had been able to prove that that was a
lie but the harm had al ready been done. That was one of nunerous exanpl es of
m sinformati on to which Myanmar had fallen victim In fact, the girls in
guesti on had been received and treated in a specialized centre.

42. It was true that the primary task of the Buddhi st nbnasteries was to
i mpart the teachings of Buddha to children, sonme of whom decided to becomne
monks. I n that connection, he pointed out that part of his own studies had

been in a Catholic school where he had had to | earn the rudi nents of the
Catholic faith.



CRC/ C/ SR. 359
page 9

43. On the question of legislation, the law on villages and the |aw on
towns, which the British authorities had pronulgated in colonial tines in
order to be able to recruit |abour, and notably porters, were indeed

i nconmpati ble with the Convention and with the ILO conventions, and his
Government was considering repealing them 1In any event, the probl em of
forcibly enlisted porters had ceased to exi st when the Governnment had signed a
cease-fire with all the former groups of insurgents.

44, | CRC was no | onger active in Myanmar because the | ocal personnel whomit
had trained, notably in the manufacture of artificial linbs for victins of
anti - personnel mnes, were now thensel ves capabl e of operating the facilities
whi ch had been set up. The CGovernnment was currently hol ding negotiations with
ICRC with a view to the signing of a nmenorandum of agreenent.

45. Hi s Government did not envisage abolishing the death penalty since it
considered that that penalty still acted as a deterrent. It should, however,
be noted that since the present Governnent had been in office, the death
penal ty had never been carried out.

46. The disparities between regions, notably with regard to the quality of
infrastructure, were due not only to the many years of warfare, but also to
the nethod of operation of the parlianmentary regime in Myanmar since

i ndependence, whi ch had hanpered the devel opnent of the peripheral regions as
they had no representatives in Parlianment. The current CGovernnent was
endeavouring to renedy those inbal ances.

47. Hi s del egati on wel comed the Comrittee's suggestion concerning the
establishnent of a national centre for all children who, for some reason, had
been separated fromtheir famly. That would nmake it easier to |ocate the
parents. On the question of trafficking in children, the Government woul d
endeavour to assess the extent of the problem but it should be noted that
frontier controls were very difficult for geographical reasons. However, the
Gover nment was now cooperating closely with nei ghbouring countries in order to
l[imt trafficking to the fullest possible extent. As to children who were
exploited by their own parents in the context of family businesses, the
Government woul d do everything possible to change attitudes and inpress upon
parents the need to send their children to school

The neeting rose at 1.10 p. m




